

Intellectual output 1 Counselling migrants and refugees

Counsellors Study and Training Exchange Programme (C-STEP)

Didactical Framework

Authors
Academia + Project Working Team

Editing:

Prof. Dr. Jane Porath
Prof. Dr. Clinton Enoch
Dr. Rebeca García-Murias
University of Applied Labour Studies (HdBA)





This project has been co-funded by the European Commission through the Erasmus+ Programme. This document reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.



This license allows reusers to copy and distribute the material in any medium or format in unadapted form only, for noncommercial purposes only, and only so long as attribution is given to the creator.







Table of contents

Preface	3
Introduction	4
1. Content of the C-STEP 1: Counselling migrants and refugees	5
1.1. Unit 1: Intercultural awareness	6
1.2. Unit 2: Recognition and access to labour market	7
1.3. Unit 3: Analysis of client potential and empowerment	8
1.4. Unit 4: Specific supportive measures	9
2. Structure Plan	11
3. Didactical principles for procedure of learning units	12
4. Anticipated learning outcomes	14
5. Organisational aspects	15
6. Methods and material	16
References	19







Preface

Migrants and refugees face numerous tasks and challenges once they arrive in their host countries and attempt to integrate into mainstream society and the labour market (Yakushko, et al, 2008). They have to apply for asylum status and potentially seek reunification with their families, learn the language and culture of their host countries, and find work to support themselves and potential dependents (Fleay, et al., 2013).

Refugees often experience the transition from an agrarian or industrial society in a developing country to a post-industrial Western and developed country as very challenging (Abkhezr & McMahon, 2017). At the same time, as governments in the host countries have to develop policies, practices, and procedures to support the integration of refugees into mainstream society and the labour market. Education and employment are central mechanisms to achieve this goal, but it often takes time until refugees are (formally) able to work in their host countries (Gericke, Pundt, & Deller, 2017). For example, in Germany, only refugees who are officially granted asylum are allowed to work, and they have to pass an integration course that entails 600 hours of German lessons and 100 hours of civics (The Economist, 2017). However, these efforts seem to pay off; research shows that stable employment not only reduces welfare dependency and facilitates integration of refugees into the host society but also improves educational and health-related outcomes of children of refugee families (Pernice & Brook, 1996).

As Zacher (2018) points out, vocational or career counselling interventions for migrants and refugees, and career guidance education particularly when designed for younger refugees, can play an important role for refugees' feelings of belonging, adaptation, acculturation, mental wellbeing and long term-resettlement success. Career guidance and counselling is particularly important given that most refugees have experienced traumatic events in their home countries and many experience their new situations in the host countries as challenging (Moehling, 2008). Effective career guidance education has the potential to offer the same educational, social and economic benefits to refugee youth as for general student populations.

The varied circumstances in which migrants navigate their way into and through labour markets indicate how different groups will require different levels and types of career guidance and counselling support that take account of context.







In addition, careers counsellors work within a multicultural framework and provide migrant clients with the support and encouragement necessary to develop coping strategies - such as career adaptability - by counselling them and providing guidance in a proactive way, touching on social justice and advocating the integration of minority groups calls for career guidance and counselling professionals to espouse, proactively, a social justice approach, requiring advocacy.

Introduction

The aim of Academia+ is to support the provision of better services and guidance on competencies and qualifications by focusing on the development of training programmes that address urgent issues and current key challenges in the European labour market and career counselling. The topics for the three Counsellors' Study and Training Exchange Programmes (C-STEP) were chosen according to their importance for the current labour market: Counselling migrants and refugees, Future jobs and Demographic change.

The first C-STEP refers to the topic "Counselling migrants and refugees", as one of the current challenges of the European labour market and societies. By a specific transnational developed curriculum a variety of training seminars/ learning modules are provided in order to strengthen the competencies of guidance professionals and increase their knowledge in this theme as well as to improve the quality of guidance and counselling they delivered in the public employment services or related settings for migrants and refugees.

To this end, Academia+ strongly refers in these didactical guidelines to the EU project CMinaR¹ (CSTEP 1 builds on outcomes and products having been developed in this previous EU-funded project), a project that dealt with creating seminars for staff and counsellors in public employment services and also for the target group of counsellors, which attend higher education courses. More specifically, in the 'CMinaR' project partners from DE, IT, SE, TK and the UK developed Higher Education courses and courses for

¹ Erasmus+ KA2 Strategic Partnership project 'CMinaR' - Counselling for Refugee and Migrant Integration into the Labour Market – Development of Courses for Higher Education and Public Employment Services". More information on the project website: https://www.cminar.eu/







practitioners of counselling to teach and train (future) counsellors in educational and vocational guidance for their work with refugee clients.

Basing on the outcomes of the analysis of the target group's specific needs carried out in these outputs first phase as well as specifics of the Academia+ (i.e. considerably shorter training periods), the materials from the CMinaR project have been adapted to the more practical training for guidance practitioners.

That said and as mentioned above, the didactical framework presented here refers to the topic "Counselling migrants and refugees", issue which is of high importance in Europe in recent years. The content it refers to in this C-STEP 1, generally speaking, deals with the general situation a migrant and/or refugee must deal with coming to a new country and where the counsellor plays a key role in his/her counselling process.

Career counsellors more often have to cope with new challenges that arise from a growing refugee population and subsequently rising numbers of clients and settings with a refugee background. The client has a variety of challenges and only a few of them are connected to labour market issues. As a result, the counsellor must reflect on the complexity of the client's situation and that their challenges also refer to a variety of issues.

The following overview of topics are the product of combined aspects, which afford a didactical reflected implementation.

1. Content of the C-STEP 1: Counselling migrants and refugees

Refugees bring a wide variety of concerns into the setting of career guidance and counselling. Those arriving from outside of Europe - especially after having a long and dangerous journey to their destination - need adequate reception and assistance, particularly those with specific needs, including unaccompanied and separated children and survivors of sexual and gender-based violence. Refugees seek fair and efficient asylum procedures and are often confused or misinformed about entry requirements.

GFFÖRDERT VOM







Sometimes legal advice or even, legal protection is not given when counselling with refugees takes place. Talks about vocational training, higher education and all questions of life planning are affected by more urgent personally issues to be resolved immediately or as priority issues to be resolved at that time. Those are concerning, for example, the speedy family reunion and relocation by a complex condition of deprivation, poverty and even individual psychological problems related to traumatic experience of violence, among others.

The settings of counselling of refugees has a slightly different meaning than the usual daily-based work with clients. Questions of life planning, of occupation and training facilities might be a completely new way of viewing the overall and individual workforce. Counselling and career guidance are likely to be a new cultural approach for the clients in general on how to reflect what to do and how to decide to move on. The awareness of substantial problems arises for the refugees and migrants very often from a counselling setting. For example, problems are the mismatch of qualifications, the legal uncertainties of residence permit and how to get access to different systems of benefits or working permits. To have quick access to a workplace is a common goal for many refugees and may contrast with policies of a national government to offer vocational training and education to avoid low income or even poverty in the long run.

As this is a complex issue, the complete situation of refugees and migrants can only be slightly analysed in this didactical framework. The brief introduction of the learning units reflects on the necessary elements of knowledge and competencies which are needed to attend professional counselling towards refugees and migrants.

The contents and the learning outcomes of each Unit are described consecutively:

1.1. Unit 1: Intercultural awareness

The first online training from the first Counsellors Study and Training Exchange Programm (C-STEP 1) in the Academia+ project focuses on the topic "Intercultural awareness". It stands for the "challenges that arise from a lack of knowledge that both sides in counselling, the consulter and his or her counsellor, have to tackle. On the one side, the refugee client cannot be expected to bring all the basic information about systems and processes in education and labour into counselling that session with native researchers are built on. On the other side counsellors lack substantial information about systems and processes of the refugees' countries of







origin to adequately assess on what kind of qualifications and potentials a career in the receiving country can be based on; among others" (Kohn, et al., 2019).

Therefore the first unit should cover the contents multiculturalism, interculturalism, integration and challenges that arise with these topics. Furthermore the unit should focuses on language aspects and the importance and difficulties of intercultural communication. This will be the basis for cultural and intercultural awareness.

The complete unit will always combine determination of participants' experience in conducting, sitting on or just hearing or reading about career guidance and counselling sessions with refugees and migrants with evidence on specific challenges and demands in such settings on the hand side and deliver basic knowledge on the other hand side.

By focusing on the above mentioned contents unit 1 aims to meet the following learning outcomes:

- Analyse challenges arising for access to and designing and handling of supportive measures and labour market schemes.
- Promote the language acquisition in supportive measures and labour market schemes.
- To know training measures for the adaptation of vocational skills for refugees and migrants.
- Find out about legal aspects of support measures

1.2. Unit 2: Recognition and access to the labour market

The second online training from the C-STEP 1 is about the "Recognition and access to the labour market". The unit points to the core field of what educational, vocational and career guidance is all about, naming the overall topic and the primary goal of (the mostly publicly funded) service. The unit should reflect on general laws and regulations of access to the educational and vocational system and to the labour market.

Therefore the second learning unit covers the contents process of recognition of qualification and actors in the recognition process. The recognition of foreign qualifications and supportive measures as labour market schemes are deeply analysed and discussed.

Furthermore the unit focuses on European instruments and resources. The certifying systems of educational systems in also cover in this training session. The lecturers emphasise that the knowledge of formal or informal







recognition of qualifications at the national level have to combined with knowledge about the countries and educational systems of the country of origin of the clients. In addition, laws and regulations in many of the EU countries have changed in the recent years. Besides regulations also labour market policies change constantly, therefore a transnational awareness about boundaries and effects of transnational policies are important to discuss. This will be the basis for the recognition and access to the labour market.

The complete unit will always combine determination of participants' experience in conducting, sitting on or just hearing or reading about career guidance and counselling sessions with refugees and migrants with evidence on specific challenges and demands in such settings on the hand side and deliver basic knowledge on the other hand side.

By focusing on the above mentioned contents unit 2 aims to meet the following learning outcomes:

- Analyse challenges arising from both the residence status and the recognition of foreign vocational and academic qualifications.
- Discuss on the access to the labour market

1.3. Unit 3: Analysis of client potential and empowerment

The third online training from the C-STEP 1 concerns to the "Analysis of client potential and empowerment". The assessment of clients' potential to enter the labour market successfully is a main task of career guidance and counselling in general. The recognition of formal qualifications and competencies, the detection of hidden informal skills and the creative connections to the demands of the labour market is a daily task.

The well-established deficit-oriented perspective must be replaced by a resource-oriented approach, which also integrates cultural specifics and the aspect of the native language as the efforts, which are needed by the migrant client to learn the (perhaps) new language of the receptive country. Narrative methods of counselling and language methods of self-reflection should focus' both the individual as broader aspects of the life of the refugee/migrant. Especially biographical approaches combined with group-oriented methods of counselling (to integrate the social background of the client) can be part of the lesson and reflected towards the own situation of each participant of the unit.







The empowerment-oriented approach also incorporates a broader understanding of the clients' situation and the networks offered and supported. Encouraging and empowering the client in a professional way is also connected to transferring the client to a psychologist (or working hand in hand) if therapy is needed due to traumatic experiences encountered on the way to the new country or because of war/other traumatic experiences.

Therefore the third learning unit should cover the contents methods of testing/assessment of competencies (culturally and language neutral) and methods of empowering refugees and migrants. Furthermore the unit should focuses on the benefits of using methods and tools that support clients learning and understanding of career issues. This will be the basis for the the analysis of client potential and empowerment.

The complete unit will always combine determination of participants' experience in conducting, sitting on or just hearing or reading about career guidance and counselling sessions with refugees and migrants with evidence on specific challenges and demands in such settings on the hand side and deliver basic knowledge on the other hand side.

By focusing on the above mentioned contents unit 3 aims to meet the following learning outcomes:

- Get to know several methods of assessing clients' potential and empowerment
- Analyse challenges arising in the framework of assessing clients` potential and in empowerment (being driven by all challenges named before).
- Find out about methods of testing / assessment of competences (culturally and language neutral).
- Discuss several methods of empowerment of refugees and migrants.

1.4. Unit 4: Specific supportive measures

The fourth online training from the C-STEP 1 focuses on the "Specific supportive measures". It stands that in all countries, a specific socio-political and governmental situation defines the possibilities and challenges of entering into to the labour market. Sophisticated social security systems with specific measures for the integration of unemployed people do not exist everywhere. Even though most western and northern European countries have more sophisticated systems than the global south, they are still not used everywhere. There is a







need for counsellors to be aware of, use and promote more efficient and inclusive integration procedures to prevent the chances of challenges interfering, preventing labour market participation of migrants and refugees.

Supportive measures must be known to all counsellors, for example training facilities or state supported jobs, as well as where obstacles and possible solutions lie. Counsellors should therefore know about the rapidly changing portfolio of measures and the sustainable outcome for the successful integration of the job-seeking refugee or migrant into the labour market.

Therefore the fourth learning unit should cover the contents language acquisition in supportive measures and labour market schemes and training measures for the adaptation of vocational skills for refugees and migrants. Furthermore the unit should focuses on legal aspects of support measures. This will be the basis for specific supportive measures.

The complete unit will always combine determination of participants' experience in conducting, sitting on or just hearing or reading about career guidance and counselling sessions with refugees and migrants with evidence on specific challenges and demands in such settings on the hand side and deliver basic knowledge on the other hand side.

By focusing on the above mentioned contents unit 4 aims to meet the following learning outcomes:

- Analyse challenges arising for access to and designing and handling of supportive measures and labour market schemes.
- Promote the language acquisition in supportive measures and labour market schemes.
- To know training measures for the adaptation of vocational skills for refugees and migrants.
- Find out about legal aspects of support measures.

2. Structure Plan







The first online training week (C-STEP 1) is divided in four learning units, with 360 minutes classroom teaching/lessons each day (340 minutes for teaching and learning plus approx. 20 minutes for wrap up, questions by the lecturer/open questions from the participants or final discussion within each learning units).

The overview of topics addressed in the learning units that make up the CSTEP1 are presented into the following flowsheet of the one-week online training:

Table 1: Overview of the learning units in C-STEP 1

Learning Units	Unit 1. Intercultural awareness	Unit 2. Recognition and access to labour market	Unit 3. Potential analysis and empowerment	Unit 4. Specific Supportive Measures
Content s	1. Introduction of the facilitator and the participants and the course topic & goals 2. Intercultural awareness I- Culture 3. Intercultural awareness II- Cultural differences 4. Intercultural awareness III- Language and culture I 5. Intercultural awareness IV- Language and culture II 6. Intercultural awareness V- Sharing of knowhow and experience 7. Intercultural awareness V: Summary 8. Inclusive employment and the diversity advantage - a Bradford approach 9. Wrap up and final discussion	1.Introduction 2. How we use some key terms 3. Migration is here to stay – and thus will stay a sustainable topic in career counselling 4. Cross-country comparison of educational structures in migrants' main countries of origin 5. Competence analysis, procedures of formal recognition 6. Challenges in counselling migrants 7. Access of migrants in the labour market I 8. Exercise the "Tree of time management" 9. Wrap up and final discussion	1. Refugees and migrants in Luxembourg I: Counselling 2. Refugees and migrants in Luxembourg II- Personal thoughts and recommendation 3. Skill analysis: Recognition procedure if documentation is missing or incomplete 4. Application and recruitment processes/skills empowerment 5. Exploring Empowerment 6. Wrap up and questions by the lecturer	1. Specific measures in Portugal I: Language acquisition in supportive measures 2. Specific measures in Portugal I: Labour market schemes 3. Specific measures in Portugal II: Training measures for the adaptation of vocational skills for refugees and migrants 4. High Commission for Migration Portugal. ACM-Integration of refugees in Portugal: role and practises of host institutions 5. Legal aspects of support measures on Portugal 6. Specific supportive measures in Germany, Luxembourg and UK 7. Legal aspects of support measures on other European countries 8. Wrap up, open questions and final discussion

All learning units are structured to fit in the one-week-C-STEP. The lessons can follow the pictured schedule pattern in Table. 1. A different structure of the whole C-STEP 1 is possible.







3. Didactical principles for procedure of learning units

The target group's specific needs can be put to the formula that, practitioners in career guidance and counselling need practical knowledge, skills and experience to fulfil their job properly². As this is clear in the sense of the expectations of the participants, the didactical principals must refer to general principals of adult learning and vocational training. Besides the content-based knowledge pointed out above in chapter 1, following an international competence model on Career Guidance and Counselling (CGC)³, the online training refers in general to a competence-based approach (Cedefop 2009) and addresses the following questions:

- What CGC key competencies guidance professionals (career counsellors, practitioners, advisers, etc.) have/need on his/her professional practice?
- What CGC key competencies guidance professionals (career counsellors, practitioners, advisers, etc.) have/need for his/her successful career development?
- What knowledge and core competencies can the practitioner learn from these topics for her or his practical work?
- How can practitioners reflect transnational topics of the learning units on a national level for her or his practical field?
- How can the participant of the online trainings bring in important topics derived from a national perspective?
- How can counsellors transfer the acquired knowledge and competencies by this training to their professional practice?, What can I take to my professional practice?
- How is the didactical mixture of inputs and active work in groups, online study elements and so on with reference to the lecturers and to the participants?

12

² The model based on **Lifelong Guidance** entails the assumption of new methods, forms of organization, resources and innovative materials which involves the confluence of different core competencies in professional work (Schiersmann, et al., 2012).

³ The development of **common European Competence Standards (ECS)** for the academic training of career practitioners in Europe and how to implement and establish such competences in the practice is required. Hence, quality standards of guidance services and the professional profile of guidance practitioners should be framed according those ECS for the academic training of career practitioners (NICE, 2016).







 How an online training involves the acquisition of new digital skills by career counsellors, both for their training and for their work?

Critical reflection

As all participants are predetermined by a specific culture and have been raised in and by a specific socialisation due to professional, public and political discourse on common topics especially in issues of migration, refugees and integration of new immigrants, we have to create first of all an awareness of the impact of all of the implicit subjective knowledge each participant brings along to the online training. All participants need a critical reflection on her or his perspectives, experiences and points of view.

Migration complexity and culture awareness

The learning units are introduced as intercultural situations taking the different backgrounds of the participants into account and deals then with an intercultural sensitive subject. The intercultural understanding is therefore linked to the learning units themselves and the content of teaching and learning. Processes of cultural adaptation of new immigrants in their receiving societies and of cultural change in those societies influences the growing diversity of those countries. Especially for Europe, a more and more democratic society is connected to values of social and cultural diversity. Different concepts of cultural awareness, cultural differences, etc., are not only presented in theoretical lectures but also made practically perceived by exercises and case studies to deepen the personal perspectives and attitudes of the career guides and counsellors who participate.

The double meaning of language

Language is a topic widely perceived and discussed when dealing with questions of migration and the integration of newly arrived immigrants. Have language skills in the new host country is a base for the effectivity of all further steps in refugees' and migrants' integration into society and the labour market. However, language also is the main instrument in counselling settings themselves. Therefore, the training is not only addressing ways to foster language acquisition of refugee clients. It is also dealing with counsellors' skills in using language as a counselling instrument when counsellors' and consultants' mother tongue speaks in different language systems.







4. Anticipated learning outcomes

The participants should develop the following competencies and close knowledge gaps within the C-STEP 1 or afterwards with the help of the online sources:

- Participants know and are aware of the wide range of specific challenges, topics and needs in career guidance settings with refugees and migrants - for both counsellors and consulters and are motivated and prepared for specific training addressing these demands.
- Participants understand the high importance of critical reflection when working in career guidance for refugees and migrants, know central concepts of critical reflection and can work with appropriate reflexive instruments.
- Participants understand the role of language in counselling settings themselves and as an opener for labour market and social integration and are themselves able to use methods of advanced language in counselling as well as support clients' language advancement.
- Participants know a variety of cultural concepts and understand how processes of successful intercultural communication and interaction work. They can use appropriate intercultural methods to support their own critical reflexivity and successful communication with their clients.
- Participants know the basics of legal, political and administrative instruments for the recognition and access to and integration into the educational and vocational system and to the labour market systems of their receiving country. They can keep their knowledge in that ever-changing sphere of regulations up to date and to identify instruments they themselves can use to support refugees on their way to integration.
- Participants can develop realistic but ambitious perspectives both for their clients' social and labour market integration and advancement and for their own counselling practice. They can support their clients' in identifying related goals and to design paths of pursuing them.

5. Organisational aspects

The participants of the online training vary a bit between our partner countries of the EU project due to different structures in the organisational structure. The following characteristics are common though:







- Modality: online training
- Use of common platforms: Zoom, MS Teams
- Temporality: each training unit is developed in one week
- Schedule: the online training week (C-STEP) is divided in four learning units, with 360 minutes classroom teaching/lessons each day
- Group size: about 68 participants enrolled
- Sex of participants: Mixed group
- Educational background of participants: university degree (career guidance studies, pedagogy, psychology, psycho-pedagogy, sociology, law, economics, etc.), Vocational Educational Training (VET), etc. The participants have some kind of experience in career guidance and counselling (either theoretical or practical, or both).
- Profession/professional role: career counsellor, guidance practitioner, career guidance specialist, adviser, teacher, lecturer of career guidance, trainer, etc., and guidance professionals which are part of the Academia Network⁴.
- Organisation/Institutions of origin: Public Employment Services, Vocational Educational Training centres, Euroguidance Network, Universities, Psycho-pedagogical offices/departments, Associations, NGOs, Social services, etc.

6. Methods and material

. .

⁴ https://www.euroguidance.eu/international-mobility/academia

GFFÖRDERT VOM







Due to the COVID-19 crises, the first C-STEP "Counselling migrants and refugees" has been converted into a four-day online training taught by a series of webinars⁵.

With the intention of performing an active, interactive and dynamic methodology with the class participants, so that the entire group is kept on board without the risk of possible dropouts due to lack of interest or motivation, lack of awareness, etc., various are the activities and dynamics addressed in these learning units.

The four units that make up the first CSTEP are a whole day online training, which combines input sessions with group work and self-learning sessions as well as plenary discussions. Thus, a mix of lectures, presentations, videos, group work, practical examples, text analysis, reflexive exercises, conference meeting tools and group work tools are proposed.

All the material are provided via the Moodle learning platform of Academia + project. More information on: https://www.academiaplus.eu/moodle/course/view.php?id=6§ion=1

The Moodle Structure

Moodle was chosen as the platform on which all the material is provided. One of the advantages of Moodle is a clearly arranged overview with which the material can be presented.

The chosen structure on Moodle follows generally the respective structure of each day of the online training. Every speaker with his or her session have their own section on the course page. One can find the presentations, videos, exercises, sample solution etc., always in the respective section of the speaker. The files can be found there, they are always numbered in ascending order. So the session can be worked through like a learning module. There are longer input presentations, exercises on various aspects and also smaller contributions from the speakers.

How to use the documents on Moodle

The provided documents are always available as PDF files to ensure a usage on most devices. Videos are inserted as a stream directly from the Moodle page so one does not need a separate flash or media player. Sometimes it is added a YouTube link on the page or on the additional material. In most cases, when the speakers have shown a video on their session, can be found this on the video (recording of the session) was prepared on

⁵ https://academiaplus.eu/c-step-1/







Moodle. So the external YouTube link is additional; maybe if one wants to watch it again or with different subtitles. Can be found the links for the YouTube videos in every presentation as one works trough them.

In general, there are 7 different types of documents on Moodle.

Table 2. Documents on Moodle

	Table 2. Documents on Moodle		
	Moodle learning platform of Academia + project		
Videos	Each session has at least one video that consists of the recording of the online training day. As these are made available directly on Moodle, every participant/ interested party can access the videos directly on the platform. No extra software or similar is necessary, so that easy access can be guaranteed		
Presentations	On every session can be found the presentation used by the speakers in the online training. Depending on whether it is a coherent input presentation or a working session with smaller input presentations, can be found one document with the whole presentation or a splitted presentation. These include a smaller input session from the speaker or preparations for a group work or an exercise. These documents are always named with 'presentation' and the specific name of this short session		
Exercises	In different sessions the speakers prepared some exercises and group work. These documents are named with 'exercise' and the specific name of this exercise and they contain two different didactic levels. On the one hand they are prepared for participants and interested people who want to work through the material for themselves. For those there is a small introduction into the exercise and the numbered tasks one has to do. Furthermore there is also a note how one needs to save/ share or send the outcome of this exercise. Depending on the situation one can share his/her screen or present his/her outcome or result on Padlet, Sticky notes, etc. On the other hand can be found a didactic level prepared for potential trainers, speakers or lecturer who want to host further education/ training, maybe in their own institution or company. For those people and for such use of the material can be found italic additional information in the exercises which are marked with 'Editorial note'. These notes includes hints, tips and instructions only for lecturer or teacher. For the most part these are didactic hints or assistance, which software can be used for the presentation of the work results, etc. These notes also contain information on what needs to be prepared in advance of the session/ training. As an example if one as a trainer want his/her participants to share their work results on a Whiteboard or with sticky notes, can be found a recommendation about the software we and the speakers used in the online training		
Sample solutions	Safeguarding of work results is extremely important for the success of a further education session/ training. When your participants come from different countries, backgrounds or at least cities/ companies etc. you will receive a huge mass of productive work results and outcome. In addition to the exercises we provide a specific sample solution. On one side the sample solution is provided on the Moodle platform are the main work results of our participants from the online training. According to privacy policy it's needed to blurry all personal data etc. On the other side, these sample solutions are only intended as additional information. They are not all-encompassing or to be seen as the only solution of the exercise		
Additional material (links, texts, handouts etc.)	According to the respective session of the speakers it is provided additional material like links, additional texts or handouts. If additional material be available for the specific session, it will be referred to at the respective place in the video or presentation		

Preparation before the unit







It is important for a good start to the training, whether it takes place in presence or online, that there is enough time for getting to know each other. In the Moodle structure the first part of the session is an introduction part where the participants introduce themselves and get a first overview about the schedule for the session. After a short introduction made by the speaker it is also necessary to establish some rules for the session. Especially for an online training with many participants some specific rules of conduct can structure the session and thus contributes to the success. It is necessary to mute/ turn off all the microphones while the speaker is talking. Otherwise, the connection will deteriorate, background noise and any interference will cause anxiety and poor understanding. Depending on the number of participants it is also necessary to turn off the video signal while the speaker is presenting. More video signals means more data consumption, which may affect the quality of the conference. In small groups or for group work and discussions in several groups it's useful to switch on the video signal.

While using the common platforms (Zoom, MSTeams, etc.) there are two different options for asking questions while an input session. On the one hand one can use the chat. It is very helpful to collect and channel the questions during a longer input session. The questions asked in the chat can then be answered in special Q&A sessions. On the other hand, Zoom and MSTeams provide different actions for participants who want to say or ask something. There is a raise your hand symbol with which you can indicate that you have a question or want to say something. The little hand will then pop up at the speakers desktop so he/she knows that someone wants to say something.

References







European scheme/frame

Abkhezr, P., & McMahon, M. (2017). Narrative career counselling for people with refugee backgrounds. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling*, *39*, 99-111. doi:10.1007/s10447-017-9285-z

Ager, A. and Strang, A. (2008). Journal of Refugee Studies Vol. 21, No. 2. doi: 10.1093/jrs/fen016

Anjum, T.M, Nordqvist, C. & Timpka, T. (2012). "The hopes of West African refugees during resettlement in northern Sweden: a 6-year prospective qualitative study of pathways and agency thoughts". *Conflict and Health,* 6 (1): 2-8.

Brott, P. E. (2005). A constructivist look at life roles. *The Career Development Quarterly, 54*(2), 138-149.

Campbell, C., & Ungar, M. (2004a). Constructing a life that works: Part 1, blending postmodern family therapy and career counseling. The Career Development Quarterly, 53(1), 16-27.

Campbell, C., & Ungar, M. (2004b). Constructing a life that works: Part 2, an approach to practice. The Career Development Quarterly, 53(1), 28-40.

CCCU (2017) CMinaR IO2 UK Report Phase 1 (28th April 2017), Collation of Qualitative Questionnaires/Interviews from Experts. Canterbury Christ Church University.

Conrads, R., Kohn, K.H., Weber, P. (2020). Human capital, educational aspiration and educational potential of refugees developments and counselling approaches. English translation of: Ralph Conrads - Karl-Heinz P. Kohn - Peter Weber: "Bildungskapital, Bildungsaspiration und Bildungspotenziale von Menschen mit Fluchterfahrungen - Entwicklungen und Beratungsansätze" in: Ralph Conrads, Thomas Freiling, Anne Müller-Osten und Jane Porath (eds.): Zukünftige Arbeitswelten. Facetten guter Arbeit, beruflicher Qualifizierung und sozialer Sicherung, Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2020.

CMINAR Project Team (eds. Karl-Heinz P. Kohn) (2019). Counselling for Refugee and Migrant Integration into the Labour Market –Development of Courses for Higher Education and Public Employment Services. Erasmus+Strategical Partnership Programme for Higher Education. ISBN 979-3-936747-27-0. Mannheim (Germany).

European Union (2015). European Union Work Plan for Youth, 2016-2018. Official Journal of the European Union, 417, 1-9.







ELGPN (2012). European Lifelong Guidance Policy Network, Lifelong Guidance Policy Development: A European Resource Kit. Jyväskylä, Finland.

Gwenn Hiller, G. (2016). A Matter of Perspective. Critical Incidents from the point of view of Studentenwerke and higher education institutions. 30 case studies from Germany with 93 intercultural comments by students and staff. For every-day use and training. Berlin (Germany): Deutsches Studentwerk.

Ferrari L., Sgaramella, T.M., Di Maggio, I. and Nota, L. (2017). On Refugees Needs: Italian Report from the Qualitative Questionnaire. National Italian Report on CMinar-IO2, University of Padova (Italy).

Fleay, C., et al. (2013). Refugees and asylum seekers living in the Australian community: The importance of work rights and employment support. *Australian Journal of Social Issues, 48,* 473-493. doi:10.1002/j.18394655.2013.tb00294.x

Hertzberg, F. (2017) "Swedish career guidance counsellors' recognition of newly arrived migrant students' knowledge and educational strategies". *NORDVEI. Nordisk tidskrift i veiledningspedagogik*, *2*(1): 45-61.

ITÜ (2017). CMinaR Intellectual Output 2. Needs Analysis. Istanbul Teknik Üniversite-si.

Kohn, K.H. P. (2011) Migrationsspezifische beschäftigungsorientierte Bera-tung – spezifische Themen, spezifische Bedarfe. Ergebnisse einer Delphi-Breitband-Erhebung. Berlin (Germany). www.Kohnpage.de/Text2011a.pdf.

Kohn, K.H. P. (2017a). Specific career counselling for refugees - the key to tapping a significant potential of skilled workers. English translation of article: Spezifische Berufsberatung für geflüchtete Menschen - Schlüssel zur Nutzung eines bedeutenden Fachkräftepotenzials. in: Carsten Kreklau / Josef Siegers (Hrsg.): Handbuch der Aus- und Weiterbildung. Politik, Praxis, Finanzielle Förderung, Köln, Loseblattwerke Deutscher Wirt-schaftsdienst, Beitrag 3313, Aktualisierungslieferung Nr. 285 www.Kohnpage.de/Text2017b.pdf.

Kohn, K.H. P. (2017b). Requirements and Preferences of Lecturers, Stu-dents and Career Counsellors dealing with building up Competences needed in Settings of Counselling for Refugee and Migrant Integration into the Labour Market. Transnational Synthesis of the Outcome of national Delphi-Reports (Intellectual Output of the CMinaR project) (A03).







Kohn, K.H. P. et al (2019). Outputs for the Erasmus + project "Counselling for Refugee and Migrant Integration into the Labour Market – Development of Courses for Higher Education and Public Employment Services (CMinaR)". Erasmus+ Strategical Partnership Programme for Higher Education. Project No. 2016-1-DE01-KA203-002883 (www.cminar.eu).

Kohn, K.H. P. (2020/2021). Counselling in the future means counselling in diversity. Counsellors in the immigration society need migration competence. English translation of the German article in: IQ konkret, issue 1/2020 and in: dvb Forum, issue 1/2021.

McGrath, S. (2018). What is employability? UNESCO Centre for Comparative Education Research, School of Education, University of Nottingham, 1-15. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/266456393 What is Employability.

Moehling, K. K. (2008). *Career guidance education: Helping resettled refugees plan their future.* Unpublished thesis, University of Pittsburgh.

Nota, L. and Rossier, J. (Eds) (2015): Handbook of Life Design; from practice to theory and from theory to practice. Gottingen (Germany): Hogrefe Publishing.

OECD (2017). Making Integration Work: Assessment and Recognition of Foreign Qualifications, OECD Publishing, Paris. Accesible in: http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264278271-en.

Peavy, R. V. (1993). Envisioning the future: Worklife and counselling. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 27, 123-139.

Pernice, R., & Brook, J. (1996). Refugees' and immigrants' mental health: Association of demographic and post-immigration factors. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 136, 511519. doi:10.1080/00224545.1996.9714033.

Savickas, M. L., Nota, L., Rossier, J., Dauwalder, J. P., Duarte, M. E., Guichard, J., & Van Vianen, A. E. (2009). Life designing: A paradigm for career construction in the 21st century. *Journal of vocational behavior*, *75*(3), 239-250.

Savickas, M. L., & Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career Adapt-Abilities Scale: Construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 80, 661-673. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011.







Savickas, M. L. (2013). Career construction theory and practice. In R. W. Lent & S. D. Brown (Eds.), *Career development and counselling: Putting theory and research into work* (2nd ed., pp. 147-183). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

Schiersmann, C., Ertelt, B., Katsarov, J., Mulvey, R., Reid, H., & Weber, P. (2012). NICE Handbook. Heidelberg, Germany: Heidelberg University.

Schreuder, AM. G., & Coetzee M. (2006). "Careers: An organizational perspective". 3rd edn. South Africa: Juta & Co. Ltd.

Setlhare-Meltor, R., & Wood, L. (2016). Using life design with vulnerable youth. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 64(1), 64-74.

Spencer-Oatey, H. (2011). Achieving mutual understanding for effective intercultural management. Centre for Applied Linguistics, University of Warwich (UK).

Spencer-Oatey, H., & Stadler, S. (2009). The global people competency framework: Competencies for effective intercultural interaction. Published by The Centre for Applied Linguistics, University of Warwick (UK).

Strauser, D. R., Lustig, D. C., & Çiftçi, A. (2008). Psychological well-being: Its relation to work personality, vocational identity, and career thoughts. *The Journal of Psychology*, *142*(1), 21-35.

Sundelin, Å. (2017a). The art of supporting migrant clients learning about career isses". *The Swedish National Board of Education*.

Sundelin, Å. (2017b). CMinaR IO2. Sweden Final report, June 2017. Collation of Qualitative Questionnaires/Interviews from Experts. Department of Education, Stockholm University.

The Economist (2017). *How Germany is integrating its refugees*. Retrieved from https://www.economist.com/news/europe/21728992-it-seems-be-managing-how

germany-integrating-its-refugees

Vanhalakka-Ruoho, M. (2010). Relational aspects in career and life designing of young people. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, 10(2), 109-123.

Vourinen, R., & Watts, A. (2012). Lifelong guidance policy development: a European Resource kit. *European Lifelong Guidance Policy Network (ELGPN), Tools No. 1*. Finish Institute for Educational Research, 17-25.







Yakushko, O., et al. (2008). Career development concerns of recent immigrants and refugees. *Journal of Career Development*, *34*, 362-396. doi:10.1177/0894845308316292

Zacher, H. (2018). "Career Development of Refugees". Germany: Leipzig University. In James A. Athanasou & Harsha N. Perera., "International Handbook of Career Guidance". Edition: 2nd, Publisher: Springer.

German scheme/frame

Bosse, Elke (2011). Qualifizierung für interkulturelle Kommunikation: Trainingskonzeption und -evaluation. München: Iudicium.

Conrads, R., Kohn, K.H and Weber, P. (2020). "Bildungskapital, Bildungsaspiration und Bildungspotenziale von Menschen mit Fluchterfahrungen - Entwicklungen und Beratungsansätze" in: Ralph Conrads, Thomas Freiling, Anne Müller-Osten und Jane Porath (eds.): Zukünftige Arbeitswelten. Facetten guter Arbeit, beruflicher Qualifizierung und sozialer Sicherung, Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2020.

Gericke, D., Pundt, L., & Deller, J. (2017). Wie aus Geflüchteten Kolleg/innen werden! [How refugees become colleagues!]. In-*Mind Magazin, 3*. Retrieved from http://de.inmind.org/article/wie-aus-gefluechteten-kolleg-innen-werden

Kohn, K.H. (2011). "Migrationsspezifische beschäftigungsorientierte Beratung – spezifische Themen, spezifische Bedarfe. Ergebnisse einer Delphi-Breitband-Erhebung". Berlin (www.Kohnpage.de/ Text2011a.pdf)

Kohn, K.H. (2017a). "Spezifische Berufsberatung für geflüchtete Menschen - Schlüssel zur Nutzung eines bedeutenden Fachkräftepotenzials". In: Carsten Kreklau / Josef Siegers (Hrsg.): *Handbuch der Aus- und Weiterbildung*. Politik, Praxis, Finanzielle Förderung, Köln, Loseblattwerke Deutscher Wirtschafts-dienst, Beitrag 3313, Aktualisierungslieferung Nr. 285 www.Kohnpage.de/ Text2017b.pdf

Links

• ACM. Alto Comissariado para as Migrações:

https://www.acm.gov.pt/inicio?p p id=101&p p lifecycle=0&p p state=maximized&p p mode=vie w& 101 struts action=%2Fasset publisher%2Fview content& 101 returnToFullPageURL=http%3A% 2F%2Fwww.acm.gov.pt%2Finicio%3Fp auth%3DQg5nR3Wh%26p p id%3D3%26p p lifecycle%3D1%







26p p state%3Dnormal%26p p state rcv%3D1& 101 assetEntryId=42096& 101 type=content& 10

1 urlTitle=como-posso-frequentar-um-curso-de-lingua-portuguesa-para-estrangeiro1&inheritRedirect=true

- ACM. Alto Comissariado para as Migrações:
 - https://www.acm.gov.pt/inicio?p p id=101&p p lifecycle=0&p p state=maximized&p p mode=vie w& 101 struts action=%2Fasset publisher%2Fview content& 101 returnToFullPageURL=http%3A% 2F%2Fwww.acm.gov.pt%2Finicio%3Fp auth%3DQg5nR3Wh%26p p id%3D3%26p p lifecycle%3D1% 26p p state%3Dnormal%26p p state rcv%3D1& 101 assetEntryId=42096& 101 type=content& 10 1 urlTitle=como-posso-frequentar-um-curso-de-lingua-portuguesa-para-estrangeiro-1&inheritRedirect=true
- Berufs- und Wirtschaftspädagogik: https://www.wbv.de/openaccess/themenbereiche/berufs-und-wirtschaftspaedagogik/shop/detail/name/ /0/1/6004752w/facet/6004752w/nb/0/category/1678.htm
- Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge:
 https://www.bamf.de/SharedDocs/Anlagen/DE/Statistik/AsylinZahlen/aktuelle-zahlen-april-2020.html; isessionid=F6DF7C806B7A3473DF9536C7F81D5852.internet572
- Bundeszentrale für Politische Bildung: https://www.bpb.de/gesellschaft/migration/flucht/zahlen-zu-asyl/265710/demografie
- BWP 6/2017: Kompetenzen anerkennen: https:// www.bwp-zeitschrift.de/de/bwp.php/de/bwp/show/8510
- Career Development Institute in the UK: https://www.thecdi.net/
- CEDEFOP (European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training): https://www.cedefop.europa.eu/en/events-and-projects/projects/europeanqualifications-framework-eqf







- CEDEFOP (European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training):
 https://www.cedefop.europa.eu/en/events-and-projects/projects/europeancredit-system-vocational-education-and-training-ecvet
- Cidade das Profissões: http://cdp.portodigital.pt/
- European Qualifications Passport for Refugees: https://www.coe.int/en/web/education/recognition-of-refugees-qualifications
- Gabinete de Apoio à Inserção Profissional, Ensino Superior e Qualificação (GAIPESQ) (ACM. Alto Comissariado para as Migrações): https://www.acm.gov.pt/pt/ad-acm-c-cnaifaro
- Gabinete de Apoio ao Empreendedor Migrante GAEM (ACM. Alto Comissariado para as Migrações):
 https://www.acm.gov.pt/-/gabinete-de-apoio-ao-empreendedor-migran-1
- Institute of Employment and Professional Training (IEFP): https://www.iefp.pt/
- Institut für Bildungscoaching: https://www.institut-bildung-coaching.de/wissen/integration-migration-berufsorientierung-fuer-fluechtlinge.html
- Mediendienst integration: https://mediendienst-integration.de/migration/flucht-asyl/arbeit-und-bildung.html/
- MySkills: https://www.myskills.de/en
- NADINE EU project: www.nadine-project.eu
- NICE Network. Network for Innovation in Career Guidance and Counselling in Europe: http://www.nice-network.eu/
- Online Platform for Portuguese language (ACM. Alto Comissariado para as Migrações):
 https://pptonline.acm.gov.pt/
- Prototyping transfer: https://www.anerkennung in deutschland.de/html/de/prototyping transfer.php
- RefuNEET Erasmus+ project. www.navet.government.bg/en/the-refuneet-project







Telephone Translation Service (STT) (ACM. Alto Comissariado para as Migrações):
 https://www.acm.gov.pt/-/servico-de-traducao-telefonica?doAsGroupId=10181&refererPlid=11423&controlPanelCategory=current_site.content

Transversal Model for Migrants: http://www.transversalmodel.eu/